

Faculty of Health Science, Department of Community Medicine

# Impact of competition on profit and revenue of pharmacies in Norway

Rupesh Karn

Candidate number: 16

Master's Thesis in Public Health...HEL-3950...2023

Supervisor: Hans Olav Melberg



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LI	ST OF TABLESIII
LI	ST OF FIGURESIII
AC	CKNOWLEDGEMENTIV
AB	STRACTV
AB	BREVIATIONSVI
1	INTRODUCTION1
1.1	Impact of pharmaceutical company on revenue and individuals 1
1.2	Background
1.3	Accessibility to the pharmacy
1.4	Competition related to pharmaceutical market
1.5	Rationale of the study7
1.6	Research question7
2	METHODOLOGY
2.1	Study design
2.2	Study population
2.3	Variables9
2.4	Inclusion criteria
2.5	Exclusion criteria
2.6	Ethical consideration 11
2.7	Study sample 12
2.8	Statistical Method

3	RESULTS14	
3.1	Descriptive characteristics of pharmacies in Norway 1	.4
3.2	Results from linear regression analysis	20
4	DISCUSSION	
4.1	Main Result 2	23
4.2	Comparison of results with similar other studies	23
4.3	Strengths of the study	27
4.4	Weaknesses of the study	27
5	CONCLUSION	
6	FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
RE	FERENCES	
AP	PENDIX	
Appe	ndix I: Operational definitions	32

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Mean and Standard Deviation of baseline characteristics of a pharmacy in Norway
Table 2: Descriptive analysis based on the quartiles of profit gained by the pharmacies in
Norway
Table 3: Crude regression coefficients of "profit of pharmacy" for "competition of pharmacy"
in Norway
Table 4: Adjusted regression coefficients of "profit of pharmacy" for "competition of
pharmacy" in Norway
Table 5: Crude and adjusted regression coefficients of "total revenue per capita" for
"competition of pharmacy" in Norway
Table 6: Adjusted regression coefficients of "total revenue per capita" for "competition of
pharmacy" in Norway

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1: Flowchart for the selection of study sample	12

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my immense appreciation to everyone who have made significant contributions for completion of this master's thesis in the field of public health. First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to Department of Community Medicine's Master of Public Health (MPH) program at UiT Norges arktiske universitet.

I would like to extend my gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Hans Olav Melberg, for his invaluable assistance, experience, and support during the course of this research endeavor. The perceptive feedback and motivational support provided by him significantly influenced the content of this thesis.

I would like to express my gratitude to the esteemed faculty members especially the program head Ekaterina Sharashova and program advisor Janne Elisabeth Strømmesen for their administrative help and support for the accomplishment of this thesis. Also, I would want to express my gratitude to my colleagues for fostering a supportive environment throughout my academic career at UiT.

I would also like to thank Statens Legemiddelverk (SLV) and Norwegian Institute of Public Health (Folkehelseinstituttet) for their availability of information and data that was needed for this work.

The special mention to my wife and family members who continuously supported me for achieving my degree at UiT. Their support and encouragement served as the foundational sources of strength in my life.

#### **Rupesh Karn**

### ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** Since, 2001, due to the change in Pharmacy act, the accessibility to the pharmacy among public has considerably increased due to the increase in number of pharmacy owned by the chain wholesaler<sup>1</sup>. In terms of pharmaceutical brands, competition serves as a driving force that compel brands to make new, effective and enhanced medicines, while encouraging generic companies to provide more cost-effective alternatives<sup>2</sup>. In Norway, 5,200 inhabitants per pharmacy were getting services from the pharmacies irrespective of their brands in 2022.

**Methodology:** This thesis followed cross-sectional study design using the data related to revenue and profit of pharmacies from Statens Legemiddelverk (SLV). Whereas, total population residing in the respective municipalities from Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Analyses consist of descriptive statistics for baseline characteristics. One-way Anova was calculated for p-value. Similarly, main results were found using linear regression analysis.

**Results:** Competition of pharmacy was a significant predictor variable [ $B_{crude}$ = -0.395, 95% C.I= (-0.752) – (-0.038)] at 5% level, suggesting negative relationship with "profit percentage". After nullifying the confounders, the result showed that there still was significant relationship between profit percentage and competition of pharmacy [ $B_{adjusted}$ = -1.650, 95% C.I= (-2.611) – (-0.690)] at 5% level. Similarly, competition of pharmacy was a significant predictor variable [ $B_{crude}$ = 1,931, 95% C.I= 1.591 – 2.271] at 5% level, suggesting positive relationship with total revenue per capita. After adjusting other variable, the result showed that there still was significant relationship between total revenue of pharmacy and competition of pharmacy [ $B_{adjusted}$ = 2.027, 95% C.I= 1.690 – 2.364] at 5% level.

**Conclusion:** From this thesis it can be concluded that with the increase in competition among the pharmacies there will be less profit gained by the pharmacies. On the contrary, the positive association was observed between competition among the pharmacies and revenue per capita of pharmacies in Norway, which showed that with the increase in competition, revenue per capita will also increase.

# ABBREVIATIONS

МРН	Master of Public Health
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
LMIC	Low and Middle Income Countries
НМО	Health Maintenance Organization
SWOT	Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats
SLV	Statens Legemiddelverk (Norwegian Medicine Agency)
REK	Regional committees for medical and health research ethics
NSD	Norwegian Centre for Research Data
C.I.	Confidence Interval

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1 Impact of pharmaceutical company on revenue and individuals

In most cases, the presence of many competitors ensures the operation of an efficient market system where prices of products become less, and supply becomes higher till it reaches the economically efficient production point. However, this idea is challenged in case of health care system by experts, based on the well-established nature of health care market which is apparently full of market imperfections like imperfect consumer information<sup>3</sup>. As of 2015, almost 2 billion people globally do not have adequate access to essential medicines and supplies, and pharmaceutical industry has a significant role in reducing this inaccessibility<sup>2</sup>. Pharmacy systems have witnessed many changes in last twenty years and deregulation is one of the prominent changes over the period, that showed some prominent results, especially within European countries<sup>4</sup>. Deregulation, as the term suggests, implies to loosening of restrictions or deconstruction of regulations that were imposed on markets by government or other controlling agencies<sup>5</sup>. In pharmaceutical markets, deregulation is expected to result in growth in number of pharmacies, improved patient-centered services, and establishment of pharmacy chains which, in turn, could lead to the shutdown of some pharmacies, owned and operated by individuals<sup>6</sup>.

In other words, deregulation can encourage competition in pharmaceutical markets<sup>4</sup>, which could be beneficial for the public as it encourages companies to improve medicines or to offer cheaper alternatives<sup>2</sup>. Competition plays significant role as it acts as a driving force for companies to deliver services and goods of higher quality while maintaining lower price points. In terms of pharmaceutical brands, competition serves as a driving force that compel brands to make new, effective and enhanced medicines, while encouraging generic companies to provide more cost-effective alternatives<sup>2</sup>.

Due to deregulation, pharmacies pressure to serve individuals (i.e. inhabitants per pharmacy) drastically decreased and the accessibility of pharmacy increased in most of the countries. In 2013, inhabitants per pharmacy dropped down to 7600 from 12,300 in Norway<sup>4</sup>.

Most of the European nations, the pharmacy market is made up of independent, privately held pharmacies that are subject to strict government regulations regulating profit margins<sup>7</sup>. Among all expenditure, \$7.5 trillion is done in the field of healthcare globally. Whereas, among all healthcare expenditures, 19% of expenditure is done in the field of medicines and supplies. As a result highest profitability (more than 20%) has been seen in this field in comparison to other health care expenditures<sup>8</sup>. Among all global expenditure and profitability in pharmaceutical globally, Europe obtains 23% of market share whereas Norway obtains almost 15% revenue among all European countries<sup>8</sup>.

Pharmacies tries to serve its customer with varieties of products (such as prescription drugs, non-prescription drugs and merchandise products). The strategy related to provide the prescription only drugs varies from country to country. England, Austria, Ireland, Norway and Netherlands adopted to dispense the doctors to rural areas and provide incentives to establish the pharmacy<sup>4</sup>. While Norway had added up some extra features to promote the delivery of prescription drugs to rural areas and i.e. subsidy scheme for those pharmacies which made low turnover<sup>4</sup>. In Norway, in 2010, only 58% of the municipalities had pharmacies in them<sup>4</sup>.

Serving an individual or customer is something that is linked with the revenue that is made by the pharmacies. In Year 2010, it was found that between 7% to 11% of total pharmacy turnover, over the counter drugs had its role while merchandise products had almost a share of a quarter in total pharmacy revenue<sup>4</sup>. By the end of 2021, an average of 5,262 people were found visiting each pharmacies in Norway. In Norway, people have high trust upon pharmacies and the delivery system. In 2022, almost 90% of drugs that had been dispensed were all on prescriptions. Apart from prescribed medicines by general physicians and doctors, non-prescribed medicines and other merchandise products provided more profit to pharmacies in Norway<sup>9</sup>. In United Kingdom, weighted share for profit of pharmacies at most 1 mile catchment area was found to have just 16.3% while within 0.25 mile was 46.9%<sup>10</sup>. Similarly, Norway also being one of the OECD countries, this thesis will help to identify the profitability shares among the competitor pharmacies within the same catchment area. Also, pharmacy and pharmacist are the highly accessible health care service that an individual/patients can trust<sup>11</sup>.

#### 1.2 Background

The Norwegian Pharmacy Act defines a pharmacy as a physically accessible place for drug sale to end-users where drug-related guidance is provided<sup>9</sup>. Pharmacies ensures safe deliveries of drugs to end users and contributes to supervise to correct drug use in the population. Pharmacies in Norway sells both prescribed that needs physician's prescription and over the counter drugs that doesn't need special prescription from the physicians. Majority of pharmacies except hospital pharmacies (owned by regional health authorities) are owned by private enterprises in Norway. 400-year history was changed in 2001 in Norway when the legislation related to owning pharmaceutical companies changed. In 2021, about 80% of all pharmacies had been owned by international pharmacy companies<sup>12</sup>. As of 2022, Norway has 1043 pharmacies countrywide and among them Apotek 1 is the leading pharmacy chain followed by Vitusapotek<sup>13</sup>. Pharmacy acts as a contact point to find the medicines and products that is produced at a global scale in the pharmaceutical industries. Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) with more than 1200 partners and 250 collaborations from biopharmaceutical industries clearly emphasizes the global health progress in this 21st century<sup>14</sup>. In addition, 1.5% of gross domestic product is accounted by pharmaceutical spending in Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) member countries<sup>15</sup>.

Pharmacy plays an important role in an individual's life to be healthy. Pharmacy usually acts as first and last contact point between patient and health system<sup>16</sup>. Pharmacists often shows their responsibilities towards public welfare and health by providing advices on safe and rational use of medications.

Individual/ patient with undiagnosed chronic illness often visit the pharmacy for other complications until they are advised to visit health facilities. Therefore, until the best diagnosis is done, the pharmacy acts as placebo for the patients. Denmark has initiated a compliance service in pharmacies for the patients with chronic diseases that facilitates the patient with private consultation<sup>16</sup>.

Since, 2001, due to the change in Pharmacy act, the accessibility to the pharmacy among public has considerably increased due to the increase in number of pharmacy owned by the chain wholesaler<sup>1</sup>. It is seen that pharmacy density per population is an important indicator to find out the geographical accessibility towards pharmacy<sup>17</sup>.

#### **1.3** Accessibility to the pharmacy

In recent times, patients-pharmacist interactions has changed from just dispensing medicines to patient/consumer centered medication management services including vaccination, chronic disease management and point-of-care testing<sup>18</sup>. Accessibility also defines the distance of pharmacy from a household where patient-pharmacist/physician interaction takes place.

A study done in England shows that within 20 min walking radius an individual can reach a general practitioner's premises. It also showed that people living in urban area has higher accessibility of pharmacy in comparison to the rural areas<sup>19</sup>. In America, almost 90% of public has accessibility to a pharmacy within 5 miles<sup>11</sup>. Whereas, there are 8.3% of counties where more than 50% of population doesn't have access within 10 miles radius<sup>18</sup>. In some parts of America, the accessibility of pharmacy hasn't been changed in terms of distance but the disparities of providing the services among minorities (especially in Black and Latino) has been seen<sup>20</sup>. If the comparison is done between develop and under low and middle income countries (LMIC), there is vast difference in number of personnel serving consumer/individual at pharmacy. For example, Germany had 6.57 staffs whereas, Congo and Zimbabwe had 0.29 and 0.93 respectively per 10,000 population.

If this comparison is done between some of the European countries, Finland had highest of 20 staffs, Sweden with 16 staffs followed by Norway and Denmark with 9 and 5 staffs respectively per 10,000 population in  $2020^{21}$ .

In Norway, 5,200 inhabitants per pharmacy were getting services from the pharmacies irrespective of their brands in 2022. Among them 90% of pharmacies located in municipality level. Norwegian pharmacies seemed to be serving their consumers more carefully as a result of which trust for pharmacy in Norway is higher among individual<sup>9</sup>.

#### **1.4** Competition related to pharmaceutical market

In 1929, Harold Hotelling developed a model called Hotelling model of competition which is used to analyze the competition between firms that are similar but offer differentiated products within its catchment area. This model describes that products offered and proximity of different locations, taking price of product and transportation costs into account, always influence consumer's choices. Whereas, each firm tries to get customers from both perspective and keep themselves in equilibrium without providing much differentiation than others<sup>22</sup>. Increase in competition occurs with establishment of new firm, decreasing the transportation costs, expanding the service area and with the increase in consumer's preferences/demands and vice-versa.

The main aim of competition policy is to confirm the effective functioning of markets in order to benefit individuals of that area. However, towards the fulfillment of effective and affordable accessibility, anticompetitive practices within the pharmaceutical industry may not be better approach<sup>2</sup>. Competition within the health care industry benefits individual to achieve services within affordable costs, improved quality of services, and with different range of options and innovations<sup>23</sup>. Though there is limited access of services in terms of pharmaceutical goods, the total pharmaceutical bill in OECD countries reached to \$980 billion in 2013 from \$800 billion in 2011<sup>2</sup>.

Generally, "HMO penetration" has been used as the measure of competition. This is because the data needed for calculation of HMO penetration is generally maintained and easily available at health service level. In addition, "Lerner Index" is one another way for the calculation of competition. Due to difficulty in the data related to marginal costs, this method is not so common. Also, "Network tightness index" is newer concept for competition calculation defined by Len Nichols<sup>3</sup>.

One of the analysis done in U.S. pharmaceutical industries showed that competition and innovation has the relationship with the profitability of that firm but that competition should focus on previously unmet needs of consumers<sup>24</sup>. "Competitive advantage" is one area which attracts scholars and leaders working in this area. A SWOT analysis done on this area showed that firms that uses environmental opportunities and nullifies threats related to environment of that company along with avoiding firm's drawbacks has higher probability of obtaining competitive advantage compared to other industries<sup>25</sup>.

A company always has monopoly within competition with others when it has some patents which provides huge profit to that company until patent expires. But, with the expiration of that patent, competition for the delivery to the consumers increases and price drops<sup>26</sup>.

Norwegian competition authority (Konkurransetilsynet) is one of the agencies that regulates the competition among companies which is also undertaken by the pharmaceutical markets. According to the survey report, it says that most of the companies uses monitoring and pricing algorithms which imbalance the competition and results in over pricing that hampers the individuals<sup>27</sup>. Norwegian competition authority and Norwegian Directorate of Health (Helsedirektoratet) has controlled the competition in terms of prescription drugs but there is no legal regulation for non-pharmaceutical and merchandise products which provides pharmacy a higher profit<sup>28</sup>. Nature of competition has evolved in online market also since 2016 in Norway but the revenue generation through this platform is less compared to real visit<sup>29</sup>.

### **1.5** Rationale of the study

Pharmacy and its competition is necessary to explore because it is linked with both health care delivery and business model. This is an area where there is high market demand and increasing rate of investments<sup>30</sup>.

Exploring more in this area will help to identify whether competition impedes or promotes the availability of healthcare services and pharmaceutical drugs. In addition, researches in this area will also help to find out how consumer choice and their affordability will be affected by the pricing of services at pharmacy. Study in these aspect will also help to monitor how pharmacy density will impact on management of diseases or overall health outcomes. Apart from the consumer's point of view, it is also important to understand the trends and dynamics of market.

Consumers always want to pay less and access more. Therefore, study in this area will help to identify the accessibility and cost effective-pharmaceutical services from consumer's perspective.

#### **1.6 Research question**

This thesis aimed to find out the result for two closely related questions. Firstly, what is the association between profit percentage and competition among pharmacies in Norway? Secondly, what is the association between revenue per capita and competition among pharmacies in Norway?

## 2 METHODOLOGY

### 2.1 Study design

This thesis followed cross-sectional study design using the data related to revenue and profit of pharmacies from Statens Legemiddelverk (SLV). This thesis also obtained the total population residing in the respective municipalities from Norwegian Institute of Public Health.

### 2.2 Study population

For the execution of this thesis, a statistical database on revenue and profit that is yearly submitted to the Norwegian Institute of Public Health by Norwegian medicine agency was used from year 2021. Total number pharmacies was 992 whereas the municipalities that contained pharmacies were 356. Similarly, total population of Norway in year 2021 was 5.408 million.

The data was obtained from two different sources. Therefore, both data were matched keeping the municipality (Kommune) in common. This thesis used "number of staffs in pharmacy", "total revenue per pharmacy", "Profit", "Sales on prescription, non-prescription drugs" and "sales on merchandise products" for analysis from the data that was obtained from SLV. Whereas, number of population residing in respective municipalities were used from the data obtained from Norwegian Institute of Public Health. There were 356 municipalities in total out of which 218 municipalities were taken for the study. Rest of the municipalities were excluded because they either match exclusion criteria or did not match the inclusion criteria.

#### 2.3 Variables

For this thesis, researcher identified profit percentage and revenue per capita as the main outcome variables. Profit percent was the proportion of total revenue made by the pharmacy by selling prescription drugs only. Profit percent was measured in percentage (%). Whereas, total revenue per capita was an average revenue of a pharmacy through the sales of prescription drugs, non-prescription drugs and merchandise products that is expected to be generated by an individual of that kommune. It was expressed per 1,000 Kroners. Similarly, the main predictor variable for this thesis was competition which was measured on the basis of Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) penetration. Instead of measuring it as percentage, competition of pharmacy was expressed in per 10,000 population. Both outcome variables and predictor variable were continuous variables.

To identify the real effect of predictor variable on outcome variables different confounder variables were identified by the researcher. Population density, revenue per staff, prescription per capita, non-prescription per capita, merchandise per capita and competition of unique brands were possible identified confounders. Population density is the average population of a kommune residing within each square kilometer radius of same kommune. It is expressed in per square kilometer. Revenue per staff is an average revenue of a pharmacy contributed by each employee in 2021. These both confounders were continuous variables. Prescription per capita is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of prescription drugs in a kommune. Non- prescription per capita is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of non-prescription drugs in a kommune. Similarly, Merchandise per capita is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of non-prescription drugs in a kommune. Similarly, Merchandise per capita is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of non-prescription drugs in a kommune. Similarly, Merchandise per capita is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of non-prescription drugs in a kommune. Similarly, Merchandise per capita is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of non-prescription drugs in a kommune. These three confounders were categorical variables. All confounders except population density was expressed as per 1,000 Kroners.

Other variables used in this thesis were revenue per capita, inhabitants per pharmacy, pharmacy density, quartiles of profit. Revenue per capita is an average revenue of a pharmacy through the sales of prescription drugs that is expected to be generated by an individual of that kommune. It was expressed per 1,000 Kroners. Inhabitants per pharmacy was an average population of a kommune that a pharmacy of that kommune is providing the services. Pharmacy density was an average number of pharmacy in a kommune within each square kilometer area of that kommune. Revenue per capita, inhabitants per pharmacy, pharmacy density were continuous variables for this thesis. Whereas, quartiles of profit is a categorical variable which was basically four quarters of profits that pharmacies made in year 2021 by selling prescription drugs. Where first, second, third and fourth quartiles were Less than or equal to -1,080,000; -1.080,001 to 190,000; 190,001 to 1,038,005 and More than or equal to 1,038,006 Kroners respectively.

Researcher have enlisted all the variables in appendix-I of this thesis to ensure the clarity for the readers.

#### 2.4 Inclusion criteria

For this thesis, the pharmacies with the information on revenue and sale on prescription, nonprescription drugs along with sales on merchandise drugs were included. The municipalities with at least one pharmacy were included in this thesis.

#### 2.5 Exclusion criteria

For this thesis, the pharmacies that only sold online and avoided physical sell were excluded. The pharmacies having no specific information on revenues and profit were excluded from this thesis. Sales of pharmaceutical products at other retail stores other than pharmacy were not included in this thesis.

In addition, some outliers that consisted strange data and had potential of over influencing the entire result were also excluded.

#### 2.6 Ethical consideration

This thesis had undergone with the analysis of existing data and did not constitute any specific approval from the committee i.e. no ethical approval was required during availability of the data. Also, this thesis followed all the principles to maintain the ethics of scientific research.

This thesis had no data related to information of an individual. So, no 'informed consent' was needed and hence, it automatically maintained the 'respect for privacy'. Also, this thesis avoids the misinterpretation and hence, all the findings and results were presented accurately.

#### 2.7 Study sample

In 2021, a total of 992 and 356 pharmacies and municipalities respectively were there in Norway. Among those, the pharmacies that did not had the information on the revenue generation and the municipalities that did not any pharmacy within its political boundary were kept excluded from the thesis. After the exclusion based on these two criteria, there were 221 municipalities and 918 pharmacies that constitutes the information on revenue.

Among the remaining 221 municipalities with the revenue information on pharmacies, three municipalities namely: Vestby, Kongsvinger and Flå were excluded because they were found to meet the exclusion criteria. The exclusion criteria are defined in section 2.5

Figure 1 summarized the information that is explained above. Hence, the final thesis sample which had the information on revenue and therefore got included in the thesis was 218 municipalities that consisted 915 pharmacies.



Figure 1: Flowchart for the selection of study sample

#### 2.8 Statistical Method

All baseline characteristics of the pharmacies described in first descriptive table (table 1) are continuous variables whose mean and standard deviation were calculated. For the second descriptive table (table 2), first of all, profit was divided into quartiles (described in section 2.7.7) and then baseline characteristics of pharmacies within kommune were compared with those quartiles. One way Anova was used to calculate the p-value of those characteristics because there were more than groups to be compared.

For the results shown by linear regression analysis, there is dependent variable whose relationship is predicted through independent (predictor) variable. In table 3, the relationship between "profit percentage" and "competition" of pharmacies were examined. For that B<sub>crude</sub> is the beta coefficient which showed the degree of relationship between them at 95% confidence level. In table 4, B<sub>adjusted</sub> is the beta coefficient which showed the degree of relationship between "profit percentage" and "competition" of pharmacies where all other probable confounders were adjusted/nullified at 95% confidence level. For the adjustment, the effect of "population density", "revenue per staff", prescription per capita", "non-prescription per capita", merchandise per capita" and "competition of unique brands" were nullified.

Similarly, in table 5, the relationship between "total revenue per capita" and "competition of pharmacy" were examined. For that  $B_{crude}$  is the beta coefficient which showed the degree of relationship between them at 95% confidence level. Similarly, in table 6,  $B_{adjusted}$  is the beta coefficient which showed the degree of relationship between "total revenue per capita" and "competition of pharmacy" where all other probable confounders were adjusted/nullified at 95% confidence level. Here, only the effect of "population density" was nullified to examine the strength of relationship between dependent and predictor variables.

For the analysis of this thesis numerous statistical tools were used. Spyder (Python 3.11) was used for coding, merging the data sets from different sources and regression analysis. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 27 was used for the calculation of baseline characteristics. Also, Microsoft excel was used to perform some basic calculations.

## **3 RESULTS**

#### 3.1 Descriptive characteristics of pharmacies in Norway

Table 1 represents the baseline characteristics of a pharmacy in Norway. Among all pharmacies in Norway, mostly made  $(2.3\pm2.9)$  percent of its total revenue as profit. The average population density in year 2021 was  $(64.4\pm153)$  individuals per km<sup>2</sup>. Also,  $(7192\pm2302)$  thousand kroner was average revenue per staff made by the pharmacies in Norway. Similarly,  $(209.1\pm2125.3)$  thousand kroner was the average revenue that pharmacy generated from an individual through sells of prescription drugs only. Whereas, through sells of all drugs (prescription and non-prescription) and merchandise products average total revenue per capita was ( $8.24\pm3.4$ ) thousand kroner. In addition, average individual that a pharmacy served in year 2021 was ( $5199.5\pm2089.5$ ). Table 1 also shows that there was ( $0.012\pm0.027$ ) pharmacy within the area of every 1 km<sup>2</sup>.

Characteristics (within 915 pharmacies and 218 municipalities)	Mean	Standard Deviation
Profit percentage of pharmacy (%)	2.3	2.9
Population density (per km <sup>2</sup> )	64.4	153
Revenue per staff (1000 Kroner)	7192	2302
Revenue per capita (1000 Kroner)	209.1	2125.3
Total revenue per capita (1000 Kroner)	8.24	3.4
Inhabitants per pharmacy in a kommune	5199.5	2089.5
Pharmacy density (per km <sup>2</sup> )	0.012	0.027

#### Table 1: Mean and Standard Deviation of baseline characteristics of a pharmacy in Norway

Descriptive characteristics based on the quartiles of profit gained by pharmacies in Norway (table 2) shows the descriptive analyses based on the four different quartiles of profit gained by the pharmacies in Norway. Majority of the municipalities having more than two pharmacies, made the lowest profit. Whereas, the municipalities consisting only one pharmacy earned comparatively higher profit. Most municipalities (kommune) that has competition of at least two different brands of pharmacy, made the lowest profit (Q1). However, more proportion of municipality having only one brand without any competition made higher profits for those pharmacies.

Majority of the pharmacy that generated the revenue more than 75,000,000 kroner in year 2021through the sales of prescription drugs in a kommune made the lowest profit. In addition, most of the pharmacies that generated the revenue less than 5,000,000 kroner in year 2021 through the sales of the drugs that did not need prescription of physician made higher profit. Also, majority of pharmacies that generated revenue more than 15,000,000 in 2021in a kommune through the sales of merchandise products made the higher profits.

Whereas, there were almost similar average number of pharmaceutical staffs that assisted pharmacies in a kommune to gain profit.

		Profit Quartiles				P-Values
	_	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	_
Total number	One pharmacy	6 (10.9)	38 (67.9)	30 (55.6)	21 (39.6)	
of pharmacy in a	2 to 4 pharmacies	26 (47.3)	14 (25)	19 (35.2)	18 (34)	< 0.001
kommune*	>4 pharmacies	23 (41.8)	4 (7.1)	5 (9.3)	14 (26.4)	
	One brand with no competition	12 (21.8)	44 (78.6)	34 (65.4)	25 (47.2)	
Unique	Two brands	19 (34.5)	9 (16.1)	13 (25)	12 (22.6)	
Brands of Pharmacy in	Three brands	13 (23.6)	2 (3.6)	4 (7.7)	5 (9.4)	<0.001
a kommune*	Four brands	8 (14.5)	0	1 (1.9)	9 (17)	
	Five brands	2 (3.6)	1 (1.8)	0	2 (3.8)	
	Six brands	1 (1.8)	0	0	0	

Table 2: Descriptive analysis based on the quartiles of profit gained by the pharmacies in Norway

	≤ 25,000,000	3 (5.5)	20 (35.7)	18 (33.3)	6 (11.3)	
Revenue made by selling	25,000,001- 50,000,000	6 (10.9)	23 (41.1)	17 (31.5)	15 (28.3)	<0.001
prescription drugs in a kommune*	50,000,001- 75,000,000	5 (9.1)	6 (10.7)	10 (18.5)	9 (17)	
	≥ 75,000,001	41 (74.5)	7 (12.5)	9 (16.7)	23 (43.4)	
	≤ 2,500,00	6 (10.9)	35 (62.5)	19 (35.2)	9 (17)	
Revenue made by selling non-	2,500,001- 5,000,000	7 (12.7)	12 (21.4)	20 (37)	14 (26.4)	<0.001
prescription drugs in a kommune*	5,000,001- 7,500,000	6 (10.9)	5 (8.9)	5 (9.3)	9 (17)	<0.001
	≥ 7,500,001	36 (65.5)	4 (7.1)	10 (18.5)	21 (39.6)	

	≤ 5,000,000	6 (10.9)	22 (39.3)	9 (16.7)	3 (5.7)	
Revenue made by selling	5,000,001- 10,000,000	4 (7.3)	16 (28.6)	18 (33.3)	11 (20.8)	<0.001
merchandise products in a kommune*	10,000,001- 15,000,000	6 (10.9)	5 (8.9)	10 (18.5)	7 (13.2)	
	≥ 15,000,001	39 (70.9)	13 (23.2)	17 (31.5)	32 (60.4)	
Pharmaceutical staffs in a kommune**		5.9 (1.3)	5.2 (1.6)	4.8 (2.0)	6.5 (3.2)	0.007

\*Represents the category that has number of each profit quartiles and percentage in bracket

\*\*Represents the category that has mean value of each profit quartiles and standard deviation in bracket

#### **3.2 Results from linear regression analysis**

For the calculation, thesis performed linear regression analysis. In table 3, the relationship between "profit percentage" (dependent variable) and "competition of pharmacy" (predictor variable). Therefore, the result showed that "competition of pharmacy" was a significant predictor variable [ $B_{crude}$ = -0.395, 95% C.I= (-0.752) – (-0.038)] at 5% level, suggesting negative relationship with "profit percentage". I.e. with every one unit increase in competition between the pharmacies, there would be 0.395 unit decrease in profit percentage of the pharmacies. Also, the linear regression was again performed (table 4) to nullify the effects of other variables and see whether the relationship is significant or not. After analysis, the result showed that there still was significant relationship between "profit percentage" and "competition of pharmacy" [ $B_{adjusted}$ = -1.650, 95% C.I= (-2.611) – (-0.690)] at 5% level. This implies that with every one unit change in competition of pharmacy, profit percentage will drop down by 1.650.

#### Table 3: Crude regression coefficients of "profit of pharmacy" for "competition of pharmacy" in Norway

	B-coefficient (crude)	p-value	95% C.I.
Competition of pharmacy	-0.395	0.030	(-0.752) – (-0.038)

Table 4: Adjusted regression coefficients of "profit of pharmacy" for "competition of pharmacy" in Norway

	B-coefficient (adjusted)	p-value	95% C.I.
Competition of pharmacy (predictor)	-1.650	<0.001	(-2.611) – (-0.690)
Population density	-0.001	0.378	(-0.004) - 0.002
Revenue per staff	7.170E-5	0.537	0.0001 - 0.0003
Prescription per capita	0.282	0.016	0.053 - 0.512
Non-prescription per capita	0.001	0.187	(-0.001) – 0.003
Merchandise per capita	-0.001	0.015	(-0.001) – 0.0001
Unique competition	0.939	0.013	0.199 – 1.67

Results in table 5 was also generated from linear regression analysis. In this table, it shows the relationship between "total revenue per capita" (dependent variable) and "competition of pharmacy" (predictor variable). Therefore, the result showed that "competition of pharmacy" was a significant predictor variable [ $B_{crude}$ = 1,931, 95% C.I= 1.591 – 2.271] at 5% level, suggesting positive relationship with "total revenue per capita". I.e. with every one unit increase in competition between the pharmacies, there would be 1.931 unit increase in total revenue of pharmacy. Linear regression was again performed (table 6) to nullify the effects of other variables and see whether the relationship is significant or not. After analysis, the result showed that there still was significant relationship between "total revenue of pharmacy" and "competition of pharmacy" [ $B_{adjusted}$ = 2.027, 95% C.I= 1.690 – 2.364] at 5% level. This implies that with every one unit change in competition of pharmacy, total revenue of pharmacy would excel by 2.027.

Table 5: Crude and adjusted regression coefficients of "total revenue per capita" for "competition of pharmacy" in Norway

	B-coefficient (crude)	p-value	95% C.I.	
Competition of pharmacy	1.931	<0.001	1.591 – 2.271	

Table 6: Adjusted regression coefficients of "total revenue per capita" for "competition of pharmacy" in Norway

	B-coefficient (adjusted)	p-value	95% C.I.
Competition of pharmacy (predictor)	2.027	<0.001	1.690 - 2.364
Population density	0.004	<0.001	0.002 - 0.007

### **4 DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Main Result

This cross-sectional thesis mainly had two closely related aims, the first was to investigate the association between percentage of profit and competition among the pharmacies of Norway. The second aim was to find out the association between total revenue per capita gained and competition among pharmacies in Norway for year 2021.

According to the descriptive results, average percentage of profit that a pharmacy made was  $(2.3\pm2.9)$  of revenue whereas average revenue generated per individual through sales of all kind of products at pharmacy was (8400±3400) kroner.

The finding from the regression analysis showed that competition within the pharmacies and percentage of profit gained was statistically significant with each other at crude level. The association became even stronger when the confounders were adjusted.

Similarly, another regression analysis between total revenue per capita and competition of pharmacies showed that this association was also statistically significant. Adjustment of confounders in this model did not affect the strength of association.

### 4.2 Comparison of results with similar other studies

Norway had a strict regulation prior to 1996 where placement of pharmacy as well as their number were controlled<sup>31</sup>. Free pricing on over the counter-pharmaceuticals was regulated in 1995 and the government investigated possibility of increasing new pharmacies in market. The investigation found that increase in number of pharmacy would lower down the prices of drugs for consumers<sup>31</sup>. This finding is somehow consistent with the finding of this thesis. Although the study conducted in 2014 did not talk about the decreased profit directly, we can assume that the decrease in prices eventually led to decrease in profit too.

Similarly, another European country Germany had a survey in 2008 which was done by Heinsohn, J.G., Flessa, S. This was conducted in 289 public pharmacy owners. The initial results found no significant association between number of competitors and revenue development as well as profit margin. However, when the perception of pharmacists was taken into consideration, the results changed. The perceived competitive pressure in the pharmacy market showed a significantly negative correlation with business performance, which simply meant more perceived competition led to less profit generation<sup>32</sup>. The initial finding was not consistent with the finding of this research. This might be contributed to a lot of different environmental and infrastructural factors, in two different countries. Also, this thesis could not calculate the association between perceived competition and business performance and hence we could not compare the second result of the study conducted in Germany with the finding of this research.

In Italy, they experienced a fall in profitability and many individual pharmacy owners were compelled to collaborate with other pharmacies after deregulation in 2017<sup>33</sup>. This situation is consistent with the finding of this thesis that profit and competition don't go the same direction.

There is a study that compared different aspects of pharmacy services in nine countries that included both regulated and deregulated pharmacy services. From evidence, it was understood that the number of inhabitants per pharmacy would decrease in deregulate countries while this number keeps increasing in a country with regulated pharmacy systems with no free entry in pharmacy market. Norway, being one of the deregulated countries has a number of 5199 inhabitants per pharmacy, which is less than the figure before deregulation. This indicates the increased availability of pharmacy services. However, this study shows that Norway is still among the countries with higher inhabitants per pharmacy, compared to other deregulated countries. The reason might be that, it had a lesser number of pharmacies at a starting point itself and hence growth of number seems relatively smaller. Also, the newly opened pharmacy may have been opened in urban areas where the inhabitants per pharmacy was already less<sup>4</sup>. This speculation can be addressed if the accessibility of

prescription only drugs could be examined in the rural areas. If the patients of rural areas are not benefitted of deregulation, then an important issue of equity stands in front of Norway that needs to be solved.

In order to combat the financial loss followed by competition, pharmacies have increased the sales of non-pharmaceutical drugs and merchandise products. In Norway, 25% of all sales was attributed to non-pharmaceutical products. Sweden had to see a lot of criticisms from public for their increased attention to beauty products and less focus on prescription medicines<sup>4</sup>. This is a problem that can easily be invited by decreased profitability followed by deregulation. The government is bound to examine if pharmacies are putting the sales of prescription medicines in prime focus, so that quality of pharmacy services doesn't downgrade.

A study conducted in Sweden investigated the change in the way consumers see and interact with over the counter drugs from pharmacies, after their large regulatory reform policy in 2009. This study showed the huge increase in usage of pharmacy services, especially for the purchase of over the counter drugs after the removal of monopoly in pharmacy markets by the state. Opening of many pharmacies after free market policy and increased geographical accessibility to pharmacy services<sup>34</sup>. From the finding of this study, we can argue that deregulation increases sales, decreases the distance between pharmacy and consumers and as a result, revenue per capita of pharmacy, increases. Hence, although the profit made by pharmacy is negatively influenced by competition as suggested by my thesis, it is important not to disregard the other factors like increased accessibility and changed purchasing behavior of consumers following competition.

A study done in South Korea to investigate the impact of deregulation on performance of retail pharmacy revealed that deregulation lowered the prices of medicines that brought a significant drop in revenue and encouraged the market exit of pharmacies that are underperforming, by increasing the competition. The finding is inconsistent with the finding of this thesis since linear regression analysis between competition and revenue had resulted that with increase in competition between pharmacies, the revenue per capita of pharmacies also increases <sup>35</sup>. The reason for this inconsistency in results between these two studies might be the difference in parameters like total population of the country and degree of usage of medicines and non-medicinal pharmacy products by consumers. The study in South Korea also revealed that the pharmacies that have less senior citizens as their customers are less vulnerable to competition and hence face less loss of revenue. If we analyze this in case of Norway, there are more aged people because of longer life expectancy rate of the country. Also, pharmacies sell merchandise products with higher prices that have demands in public. People are not hesitant to buy medicines and use them abundantly when in need, because of universal insurance program in Norway for all residents with national identification number. In addition, we can see the high amount of trust that people in Norway show in their health care including pharmacies. All these factors, when work together, make the pharmacy market in Norway less vulnerable to revenue loss and market exit due to underperformance, although there is a decrease in profit percentage due to competition, as the initial results of this thesis suggests.

#### 4.3 Strengths of the study

The main strength of this thesis was its data on revenue and profit that was reported by SLV. This data can be represented as strength because tool that used for entry was online, realtime procurement and sell of all the products from pharmacies. Also, while application of taxation and reimbursement by Norwegian government, all the documents were thoroughly checked. Therefore, reassurance of the data were done before submission to Norwegian Institute of Public Health.

#### 4.4 Weaknesses of the study

This thesis had cross-sectional study design due to which the effect of competition on profit cannot be determined in long run especially after deregulation. If the study design was longitudinal then the trend could be observed over the years and the effect of competition on profit and revenue could be compared before and after deregulation era.

This thesis did not have information of impact made my advertisements and media campaign on pharmaceutical revenue and profit. The variables like advertisement count or advertisement per year could have been added for the deep clarity of the revenue and profit.

There is a close relationship between success of pharmacy related policies and accessibility factor of pharmacies<sup>36</sup>. One of the major advantage of deregulation in Nordic countries including Norway is that it has increased accessibility of pharmacy services due to opening of many pharmacies at different location<sup>37</sup>. Although this thesis had talked about the pharmacy density, it failed to include the accessibility factor of pharmacy sector in the research due to insufficient data. For example, if it could map the exact geo-location of pharmacies and households around its catchment area, it could be a novel effort in this field.

# **5** CONCLUSION

From this thesis it can be concluded that with the increase in competition among the pharmacies there will be less profit gained by the pharmacies. On the contrary, the positive association was observed between competition among the pharmacies and revenue per capita of pharmacies in Norway, which showed that with the increase in competition, revenue per capita will also increase.

### **6 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

This thesis could be useful for some policy makers in healthcare and individuals related to heath economics and public health as well as researchers who want to explore more on the pharmaceutical market behavior and its impact.

For the policy makers, this thesis could give insight on how to make competition healthy to benefit individuals without letting them pay more to receive the services. Also, policy makers could use this thesis as a reference on how deregulation impacted pharmaceutical market in Norway. As a result it might help to regulate some policies like regulating the prices for prescription drugs, manipulating the monopoly practices inside pharmacy industry and coverage of health insurance.

Similarly, this thesis will be beneficial for the researchers for comparative analyses between Norway and other countries or regions. In addition, impact of competition on healthcare market could be explored more and the consumer behavior can be studied further.

### REFERENCES

- 1. EPhEU. More about pharmacy in norway: Employed community Pharmacists in Europe; 2016 [Available from: https://epheu.eu/norway-more-about-pharmacy/.
- 2. UNCTAD. The role of competition in the pharmaceutical sector and its benefits for consumers. Seventh United Nations Conference to Review All Aspects of the Set of Multilaterally Agreed Equitable Principles and Rules for the Control of Restrictive Business Practices2015.
- 3. Amy B. Bernstein AKG. Defining Competition in Markets: Why and How? 1998.
- 4. Vogler S, Habimana K, Arts D. Does deregulation in community pharmacy impact accessibility of medicines, quality of pharmacy services and costs? Evidence from nine European countries. Health Policy. 2014;117(3):311-27.
- 5. Marchetti M, Minghetti P. [Effects of the process of pharmaceutical deregulation on physicians]. Medicina (Firenze). 1989;9(2):162-6.
- 6. Rumm R, Böcking W. [Effects of pharmacy market deregulation regarding patient-centred drug care in Germany from a health economics perspecitve]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2013;138(9):441-4.
- 7. Anell A, Hjelmgren J. Implementing competition in the pharmacy sector: lessons from Iceland and Norway. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2002;1(3):149-56.
- 8. Statista. 2022 [Available from: https://www.statista.com/.
- 9. Apotekforeningen. Norwegian Pharmacy Association 2022 [Available from: https://www.apotek.no/in-english/about-us.
- 10. GCR. Competition analysis in UK local markets. 2018.
- 11. Kelling SE. Exploring Accessibility of Community Pharmacy Services. INNOVATIONS in pharmacy. 2015;6(3).
- 12. Apotekforeningen. KEY FIGURES 2021, Pharmacies and pharmaceuticals in Norway. 2021.
- 13. Statista. Number of pharmacies in Norway as of 2022, by chain or type 2022 [cited 2022 03/10/2022]. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/949191/number-of-pharmacies-in-norway-by-type-of-pharmacy/.
- 14. IFPMA. International Federation Of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers & Associations. 2021.
- 15. OECD. Health at a Glance. 2013.

- 16. PGEU. PHARMACY 2030: A Vision for Community Pharmacy in Europe. 2019.
- 17. Tharumia Jagadeesan C, Wirtz VJ. Geographical accessibility of medicines: a systematic literature review of pharmacy mapping. Journal of Pharmaceutical Policy and Practice. 2021;14(1).
- 18. Newman TV, Hernandez I, Keyser D, San-Juan-Rodriguez A, Swart ECS, Shrank WH, et al. Optimizing the Role of Community Pharmacists in Managing the Health of Populations: Barriers, Facilitators, and Policy Recommendations. Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy. 2019;25(9):995-1000.
- 19. Todd A, Copeland A, Husband A, Kasim A, Bambra C. Access all areas? An area-level analysis of accessibility to general practice and community pharmacy services in England by urbanity and social deprivation. BMJ Open. 2015;5(5):e007328-e.
- 20. Guadamuz JS, Alexander GC, Zenk SN, Kanter GP, Wilder JR, Qato DM. Access to pharmacies and pharmacy services in New York City, Los Angeles, Chicago, and Houston, 2015-2020. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2021;61(6):e32-e41.
- 21. United Nation. Pharmaceutical personnel per 10,000 population, 2000 to 2020. 2018.
- 22. Gala S. Hotelling's Model of Spatial Competition: How does a Location of the Firm Affect Market Competition? Economics Declassified: ECONDECLASSIFIED; 2023 [Available from: https://economicsdeclassified.wordpress.com/2023/01/19/hotellings-model-ofspatial-competition-how-does-a-location-of-the-firm-affect-market-competition/.
- 23. Federal Trade Commission. Competition in the Health Care Marketplace [Available from: https://www.ftc.gov/advice-guidance/competition-guidance/industry-guidance/competition-health-care-marketplace.
- 24. Roberts PW. Product innovation, product–market competition and persistent profitability in the U.S. pharmaceutical industry. Strategic Management Journal. 1999;20(7):655-70.
- 25. Barney JB. Looking inside for competitive advantage. Academy of Management Perspectives. 1995;9(4):49-61.
- 26. Molina-Salazar RE, González-Marín E, Carbajal-de Nova C. [Competition and prices in the Mexican pharmaceutical market]. Salud Publica Mex. 2008;50 Suppl 4:S496-503.
- 27. Norwegian Competition Authority. Survey shows that several companies use monitoring algorithms 2020 [Available from: https://konkurransetilsynet.no/survey-shows-that-several-companies-use-monitoring-algorithms/?lang=en.
- 28. Norwegian Competition Authority. Rapport fra samarbeidsprosjekt mellom de nordiske konkurransemyndi heter. 2008.

- 29. Konkurrensverket k, samkeppniseftirlitid, Finnish competition and cosumer authority, Danish competition and consumer authority. Joint Nordic Report: Online pharmacy markets in the Nordics. 2021.
- 30. &Company M. The future of healthcare: Value creation through next-generation business models. 2021.
- 31. Bergman M, Rudholm, N. & Granlund, D. Reforming the Swedish pharmaceuticals market : Consequences for costs per defineddaily dose. Stockholm. HUI Research, 2014.
- 32. Heinsohn JG, Flessa S. Competition in the German pharmacy market: an empirical analysis. BMC Health Services Research. 2013;13(1):407.
- 33. Gallone EL, Ravetto Enri L, Pignata I, Baratta F, Brusa P. The 2017 deregulation of pharmacies in Italy: Introducing non-pharmacist ownership. Health Policy. 2020;124(12):1281-6.
- 34. Håkonsen H, Sundell KA, Martinsson J, Hedenrud T. Consumer preferences for over-thecounter drug retailers in the reregulated Swedish pharmacy market. Health Policy. 2016;120(3):327-33.
- 35. Jo W, Nam H, Choi J. Opening the OTC drug market: The effect of deregulation on retail pharmacy's performance. International Journal of Research in Marketing. 2022;39(3):847-66.
- 36. Law M, Dijkstra A, Douillard J, Morgan S. Geographic Accessibility of Community Pharmacies in Ontario. Healthcare Policy | Politiques de Santé. 2011:36-45.
- 37. Anell A. Deregulating the pharmacy market: the case of Iceland and Norway. Health Policy. 2005;75(1):9-17.

### APPENDIX

### **Appendix I: Operational definitions**

**Profit percentage of pharmacy:** It expresses the proportion of total revenue made by the pharmacy by selling prescription drugs.

i.e. profit =  $\frac{\text{profit of pharmacy}}{\text{revenue made by pharmacy}} \times 100\%$ 

**Population density**: It is the average population of a kommune residing within each square kilometer radius of same kommune.

i.e. population density  $= \frac{\text{population of kommune}}{\text{area of kommune}}$ 

**Revenue per staff**: It is the average revenue of a pharmacy contributed by each employee in 2021. It is expressed in 1,000 Kroners.

i.e. revenue per staff =  $\frac{\text{total revenue of a pharmacy}}{\text{number of staff in that pharmacy}}$ 

**Revenue per capita**: It is an average revenue of a pharmacy through the sales of prescription drugs that is expected to be generated by an individual of that kommune. It is also expressed per 1,000 Kroners.

i.e. revenue per capita =  $\frac{\text{revenue of pharmacies by prescription drugs in a kommune}}{\text{total population of that kommune}}$ 

**Total revenue per capita**: It is an average revenue of a pharmacy through the sells of prescription drugs, non-prescription drugs and merchandise products that is expected to be generated by an individual of that kommune. It is also expressed per 1,000 Kroners.

i.e. revenue per capita =  $\frac{\text{total revenue of pharmacies by all kinds of products in a kommune}}{\text{total population of that kommune}}$ 

**Inhabitants per pharmacy in a kommune**: it is an average population of a kommune that a pharmacy of that kommune is providing the services.

i.e. inhibitants per pharmacy =  $\frac{\text{total population of a kommune}}{\text{total number of pharmacies in that kommune}}$ 

**Pharmacy density**: It is the average number of pharmacy in a kommune within each square kilometer area of that kommune.

i.e. pharmacy density  $= \frac{\text{number of pharmacies in a kommune}}{\text{area of kommune}}$ 

**Quartiles of profit**: It is basically four quarters of profits that pharmacies made in year 2021 by selling prescription drugs. Where

Q1= Less than or equal to -1,080,000 Kroner

Q2= -1.080,001 to 190,000 Kroner

Q3=190,001 to 1,038,005 Kroner

Q4= More than or equal to 1,038,006 Kroner

**Competition of pharmacy (HMO penetration)**: It is calculated by dividing the total number of pharmacies in a kommune with the total population residing in that kommune and multiplied by 10,000

i.e. competition of pharmacy =  $\frac{\text{number of pharmacies in a kommune}}{\text{total population of that kommune}} \times 10,000$ 

Therefore, "competition of pharmacy" in this study was expressed in per 10,000 population

**Unique competition**: It is calculated by dividing the unique number of pharmacies in a kommune with the total population residing in that kommune and multiplied by 10,000

i.e. unique competition =  $\frac{\text{number of unique number of pharmacies in a kommune}}{\text{total population of that kommune}} \times 10,000$ It is also expressed in per 10,000 population **Prescription per capita**: It is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of prescription drugs in a kommune. It is also expressed in 1,000 Kroners.

i.e. prescription per capita =  $\frac{\text{revenue made by sales of prescription drugs in a kommune}}{\text{total population of that kommune}}$ 

**Non-prescription per capita**: It is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of non-prescription drugs in a kommune. It is also expressed in 1,000 Kroners.

i.e. non - prescription per capita =  $\frac{\text{revenue made by sales of non-prescription in a kommune}}{\text{total population of that kommune}}$ 

**Merchandise per capita**: It is an average revenue of a pharmacy that is expected to be generated by the sales of merchandise products in a kommune. It is also expressed in 1,000 Kroners.

i.e. merchandise per capita =  $\frac{\text{revenue made by sales of merchandise products in a kommune}}{\text{total population of that kommune}}$